Public Document Pack
o

B4

\-/'DIRIGE.\J
CITY
LON DON

LICENSING (HEARING) SUB
COMMITTEE

Date: MONDAY, 2 DECEMBER 2013

Time: 2.30 pm

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 3 -
CTTEERM3

APPLICANT:
CITY OF LONDON POLICE

PREMISES.:
THE DOLLHOUSE, 7-8 BISHOPSGATE
CHURCHYARD, EC2M 3TJ



CONTENTS

Hearing Procedure

Appendix 1:
Appendix 2:

Appendix 3:

Application for Summary Licence Review
Grounds for Review of the Premises Licence

s.53A Certificate

(Pages 1 -2)
(Pages 3 - 6)
(Pages 7 - 18)

(Pages 19 -
20)



Agenda Annex

LICENSING (HEARING) SUB COMMITTEE
PROCEDURE FOR PUBLIC HEARINGS

1. This procedure shall apply to all public hearings conducted under the provisions
of the Licensing Act 2003.

2.  Public hearings conducted under the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 shall
take the form of a discussion led by the licensing authority. Cross-examination
will be permitted when the Sub Committee considers it to be required. The
conduct of hearings shall be broadly based, subject to the discretion of the Sub
Committee, on the points set out below.

3. At the start of the hearing the Chairman of the Sub Committee will introduce
him/herself and other Members of the Sub Committee as well as the City
Corporation officers present. Anyone making representations will then be asked
to introduce themselves and anyone accompanying them. The applicant will
then do likewise.’

4. The Chairman will then explain the purpose of the hearing and the procedure to
be followed at the hearing. The Sub Committee will then make any rulings
necessary in respect of requests for witnesses to be heard in support of any of
the parties making representations or the applicant.

5.  Those making representations will then be invited to present their case.
Repetition will not be permitted. Equal time will be offered to the applicant and
those making representations. Where there is more than one party making
representations and/or calling witnesses in support, consideration should be
given to having one spokesman on behalf of all parties so as to avoid repetition.
Although the use of a spokesman will be encouraged by the Sub Committee,
the decision rests with those parties making representations.

6. In the event of disorder or persistent disregard of the authority of the Chair, the
Chairman may suspend or adjourn the hearing, or require that the person(s)
causing disorder or showing disregard leave the hearing.

7.  In the event that the Sub Committee has decided that cross-examination will be
permitted, the applicant will be invited to ask questions of the party(s) making
representations and their witnesses (if any). The party(s) making
representations and any witnesses giving evidence in support will then answer
any questions put to them by members of the Sub Committee.

8.  The applicant will then be invited to present their case and call any witnesses in
support of their application. The applicant will be entitled to the same period of
time to present his case as those making representations were afforded.

" In hearings where a licence is being reviewed, references in this procedure to ‘applicant’ should be read as
references to the licence holder and references to ‘those making representations’ should be read as references to
those applying for the review.

Page 1



10.

11.

12.

13.

In the event that the Sub Committee has decided that cross-examination will be
permitted, those making representations will be invited to ask questions of the
applicant and their witnesses (if any). The applicant and any witnesses giving
evidence in support will then answer any questions put to them by members of
the Sub Committee.

The Chairman will ask all parties if there is anything else they would like to add
in support of their respective cases.

Those making representations will then be invited to make closing submissions
followed by the applicant.

The Sub Committee will then retire to consider their decision. They may call for
assistance by the representatives of the Town Clerk and/or the Comptroller &
City Solicitor but those persons will play no part in the decision-making process.

In due course, the Sub Committee will return to announce their decision or to
inform those present when the decision will be given.

Page 2



Appendix 1

ANNEX C
FORM FOR APPLYING FOR A SUMMARY LICENCE REVIEW

[Insert name and address of relevant licensing authority and its reference number
(optional)]

City of London Corporation, Licensing Department, Walbrook Wharf, 78-83 Upper Thames
Street. London EC4R 3TD Hr:rffllllﬂrﬂ |

Public Protectio

- 2 DEC 2013

I

Application for the review of a premises licence under section 53;b:-"<>met'§1-;*‘LC
Licensing Act 2003 (premises associated with serious crime or disorder)—

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST

Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the form. If
you are completing the form by hand please write legibly in block capitals. In all
cases ensure that your answers are inside the boxes and written in black ink. Use

additional sheets if necessary.

| Inspector McKoy [on behalf of] the chief officer of police for
the City of London Police police area apply for the review
of a premises licence under section 53A of the Licensing Act 2003.

1. Premises details:

Postal address of premises, or if none or not known, ordnance survey map reference
or description:

Dollhouse, 7-8 Bishopsgate Churchyard

Post town: London

Post code (if known): EC2M 3TJ

2. Premises licence details:

Name of premises licence holder (if known): N

Number of premises licence holder (if known): LN/

3. Certificate under section 53A(1)(b) of the Licensing Act 2003 [Please read
guidance note 1]

I confirm that a certificate has been given by a senior member of the police force for
the police area above that in his opinion the above premises are associated with
serious crime or disorder or both, and the certificate accompanies this application.

Page 3

i



(Please tick the box to confirm)

4. Details of association of the above premises with serious crime, serious
disorder or both:

[Please read guidance note 2]

See attached "Grounds for Summary Review"

Signature of applicant: Hector McKoy
Date: 2/12/2013
Capacity: Licensing Police Inspector

Contact details for matters concerning this application:
Address: Police Licensing

78-83 Upper Thames Street

Walbrook Wharf

EC4R 3TD

Telephone number(s): I
Email:

Notes for guidance:

1. A certificate of the kind menticned in the form must accompany the application in
order for it to be valid under the terms of the Licensing Act 2003. The certificate must
explicitly state the senior officer’s opinion that the premises in question are
associated with serious crime, serious disorder or both.

Serious crime is defined by reference to section 81 of the Regulation of Investigatory
Powers Act 2000. In summary, it means:

- conduct that amounts to one or mere criminal offences for which a person who has
attained the age of eighteen and has no previous convictions could reasonably be
expected to be sentenced to imprisonment for a term of three years or more; or

- conduct that amounts to one or more criminal offences and involves the use of
violence, results in substantial financial gain or is conduct by a large number of
persons in pursuit of a common purpose.

Serious disorder is not defined in legislation, and so bears its ordinary English

meaning.

Page 4




2. Briefly describe the circumstances giving rise to the opinion that the above
premises are associated with serious crime, serious disorder, or both.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



RET PRATECTIVEL Y !-alf._f.'.r'i;lAppendiX 2
THE DOLLHOUSE

e CITY OF 1LONDC iy
! : ealth &

Frovarotmeninl H
1 c Proection

7-8 Bishopsgate Churchyard, London EC2M 3TJ |
-2 DEC 7013

| DIR | REC

FAQ

CITY OF LONDON POLICE L

GROUNDS FOR SUMMARY REVIEW

Introduction and summary of police case on Summary Review

1.

This application for a Summary Review of the Premises Licence of “The Dollhouse™,
at 7-8 Bishopsgate Churchyard, London, EC2M 3TJ, has been instigated by the City
of London Police in order to prevent the further occurrence of incidents involving
serious crime and serious disorder associated with this nightclub and its customers.
The police invite the licensing authority to suspend the premises licence as an interim

step pending the full review hearing which must take place within 28 days.

This application follows a very serious incident of extensive public disorder involving
customers of The Dollhouse in the early hours of Friday 29 November 2013 (i.e. late
Thursday night). During this latest incident police officers were injured trying to quell
the disorder and several streets in and around the venue had to be cordoned off.
However this incident, serious and extensive as it was, is not a standalone one. It
follows a pattern of incidents involving assaults and public disorder in and around the
premises involving its customers in the early hours of the morning. Many of the
perpetrators are under the influence of alcohol bought and consumed inside The
Dollhouse. The venue has become a magnet for disorder. The management have
demonstrated that they have insufficient control over events held at the premises
which are usually organised by external promoters. The police have, at this stage, very
little confidence that this licence holder and his management team have the skills
required to put things right in the future. It is anticipated that at the full review hearing
the police will invite the licensing authority to consider all options up to, and

including, revocation of the Premises Licence.
1
NET PRETECTIVELY MABKED

Page 7




3. Prior to the incident on 29 November, the police have tried to engage with the
management of the venue and have had several meetings with them in an effort to
offer advice and induce voluntary changes to their operation to promote the licensing
objectives. Despite this engagement the licence holder, management and door staff
have shown themselves to be either unable, or unwilling, to take effective steps that

promote the objective of preventing crime and disorder.

The Dollhouse as a venue

4. The Dollhouse operates primarily as a nightclub on Friday, Saturday and Sunday
nights until the early hours of the morning. It also, occasionally, opens on Thursday
nights. The venue’s extensive Premises Licence permits it to provide regulated

entertainment and remain open during the following hours:

Sunday to Wednesday - 08:00 - 04:00 (sale of alcohol until 03:00)
Thursday to Friday - 08:00 — 06:00 (sale of alcohol until 05:00)

Saturday — 08:00 — 07:00 (sale of alcohol until 06:00)

5. The Premises Licence Holder is_ The Designated Premises

Supervisor is currently |l The venue is close to Liverpool Street Station

near to the junction of New Broad Street with Old Broad Street. There is no other
licensed venue that operates to these very late hours in the immediate vicinity of The
Dollhouse. (A cocktail bar/club and restaurant called “Babble” is located at 45 Old
Broad Street. It advertises itself as operating until 00:00 on Monday -Tuesday, to

03:00 on Wednesday-Friday and as “available for private hire” on Saturdays and

Sundays).

6. The Dollhouse advertises itself as being able to accommodate up to 300 guests. It

most frequently hosts external promoters who provide nightclub nights that are widely
2
ROT PROTECTIVELY KARKEDR

Page 8



HOT FROTECTIVELY MARKED

advertised on social media. These promotions include: “Overdose™, “Nightplay
Parties” and “OM4G(OSH)”. DI’s play various types of music depending on the
promotion including RnB and Deep House, Afro-beats and Hip Hop. The venue also

offers itself for private hire, for example, for birthday parties.

Trigger incident on Friday 29 November 2013

7. On the night of Thursday 28 November 2013 (going into the early hours of Friday 29
November) The Dollhouse hosted an “official birthday party” for a well-known rap-
artist who uses the stage name - (previously - The party was
widely advertised to the general public on social media sites including Twitter. It was
sponsored by “Ciroc”, a brand of vodka, and included performances by DJ’s including
B (1 advertising materials indicated that the dress code was “strictly
smart” and it was for “over 21s” only. Entry was said to be by “guest list” only. The

timings of the event were stated to be 10pm — 3am.

8. Police were notified of a public disorder incident outside The Dollhouse and
involving its customers shortly before 3.30am. A series of witness statements from
officers who attended the scene will be provided in due course in addition to CCTV
evidence. In summary they evidence very serious and extensive incidents of public
disorder outside The Dollhouse in Bishopsgate Churchyard which spread onto New
Broad Street and Old Broad Street. The public disorder spanned some 45 minutes. In
total 6 arrests were made for various public disorder, assault and offensive weapon
offences. However many more arrests would had been made if the police were not so
outnumbered by the numbers of violent participants involved in the disorder. Police
estimates suggest that well over 100 people were in the vicinity of The Dollhouse at
the time of the disorder either as participants or bystanders. Most were aged 20-40
years old. The scene was described by officers as “daunting” and “chaotic”. Several
separate incidents could be identified involving between 10-20 males and females
fighting. Fighting seemed to break out every few minutes. Some males took off their
shirts to square up to each other. Many were clearly drunk although some appeared

sober. It is unclear, at this early stage in the investigation, whether the violence was
3
ROT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Page 9



10.

HOT PROTECTIVELY WMEARIGE

spontaneous or planned. There is the real risk of reprisals if similar events are held in

the future.

The crowds outside The Dollhouse were very anti-police and when arrests were made
atlempts were made to drag the individuals away from the custody of the arresting
officers. Groups shouted, swore aggressively, and lunged at police offices trying to
break up fights and maintain order. It was clear that the crowds were intent on

violence and had little regard for any police presence.

In one incident several females were seen getting a baseball bat from the back of a car
to join the melee. In another incident a police officer heard a male involved in the
violence shout “Go ger the gun™. This led police officers at the scene to request police
firearms unit and Taser stun-gun support. A police dog had previously been deployed
to help quell the disorder, consideration to call in the Commissioners Reserve
(Metropolitan Police Level 1 Support Group Unit, that specialise in public

order/disorder was considered by the Inspector) but were not deployed.

. The door staff at The Dollhouse were wholly ineffective. Very few SIA doorstaff

could be identified by police officers at the scene. One doorman, who was asked by
an officer to assist, responded: “What do you want me to do about it? ... There’s ten of
us on, I don’t know where any of them are”. Customers were seen to be allowed to
“come and go as freely as they wanted” from the club and “there was no control on
the door”. A number of people kept professing to be door staff despite having no
identification and pushed past one female police officer “showing utter disregard for

the law”,

. The only member of the door staff able to be identified by another officer was

observed to be “clearly friendly with portions of the crowd involved in the disorder”.

The Duty Inspector at the scene (Inspector _ expressed himself to be in
“no doubr” that all the people involved in the disorder had come from The Dollhouse.

Inspector -himself suffered minor bruises and aches from the disorder.

Another officer was punched repeatedly by members of the crowd.



Previous incidents

NS BIEOAS EESEIVIST W N )
RCT FRETEC IVIEELY MARKED

I3. Although previous incidents associated with The Dollhouse over the past 15 months

are not as serious as the trigger incident last week, they do demonstrate:

&

Dollhouse;

A pattern of alcohol-related disorder and violence associated with The

b. Weaknesses in the management and door supervision team to prevent such

incidents and/or properly assist police in their investigations.

¢. Failures of the management to respond to previous police warnings;

d. The venue is attractive to trouble-makers. For example, it is of deep concern

that in one incident two door supervisors employed at the premises refused to

give witness statements to police about a violent assault they witnessed

because they feared repercussions from the suspect if they did so. A number of

other victims also later refused to assist police with their enquiries. This does

beg the question what type of customer is being attracted to The Dollhouse as

a licensed premises and why?

Date

Time

Incident

Reference

Sunday,
9.9.12

02:06

Drunk and disorderly. A drunk customer was

ejected from inside The Dollhouse. He then
approached an Asian male and threw him on to
the floor and then ran away from police. The
suspect later said it was a friend of his who had
been ejected and he followed suit. He had
consumed one vodka and orange at home before
consuming “3-4 wmore vodka and oranges, 1
Sambuca and a few Jagerbombs” at The
Dollhouse. He was issued with a Fixed Penalty

Notice for being drunk and disorderly.

5
C

Monday,

04:10

Public _disorder and obstructing a police

1

5
ROT PRETECTIVELY MARKED

Page 11



RECS 5™ [5 1S e LR et Wl R e
L~(~"‘ L '.\;(!,f.‘(/I .‘\‘(‘—. |LI/.[\L\L':-.

10.12.12

officer.

A disturbance outside The Dollhouse involving
10-15 males. CCTV operator notes that the crowd
is not dispersing. Two police dog handlers try to
disperse the crowd who are aggressive and
threatening. One female refused to disperse and
was abusive to police and was arrested for

obstructing a police officer.

Saturday,
22.12.12

03:25

Cocaine _use by promoter. A member of the

promoter’s front of house team is seen taking
cocaine in the toilet of The Dollhouse. A member
of the public points him out to police officers
outside The Dollhouse. He is found in possession
of a wrap of cocaine and later accepts a police

caution.

R

Thursday,
27.12.12

04:06

Public_disorder/Drunk and disorderly. Police

come across an altercation involving 3 males
pushing and shoving each other outside The
Dollhouse. Police break up the melee. One male
is physically and verbally abusive to police and
had to be threatened with CS Gas. Male later
accepted a Penalty Notice for being Drunk and
Disorderly. (Note: there is no certainty that these
males had been inside The Dollhouse, however
given their proximity to the venue and the time of
their arrest it is more likely than not that these

males were in fact customers of The Dollhouse).

Tuesday,
1.1.13
(N.Y.E)

l

03:35

Offensive weapon. A male was brandishing a

knife inside The Dollhouse. Police entered the

venue and arrested the suspect who was found in

6
NOT PROTECTIVELY WMARKED

Page 12



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

possession of a small kitchen knife which he had
concealed in his jeans. He stated he was a
musician and some people do not “agree” with his

music and that is why he carried the knife.

Monday.
14.1.13

03:50

Drunk and disorderly. Police arrived at The

Dollhouse shortly before expected closing time. A
female was behaving aggressively towards door
staff. She was “extremely intoxicated”, fell over
several times, was swearing and thrashing her
arms out at officers. Police records suggest she
had been drinking inside The Dollhouse. Female

later accepted a Penalty Notice for Disorder.

Monday.
22.4.13

04:50

Assault _and failure of door staff to assist

police.

A female and her male ex-partner met at The
Dollhouse. When they came out the club the male
assaulted the female by slapping her across the
face and kicking her in the stomach until she was
unconscious. In a 999 call to police at 04:50 a
member of the public describes seeing a group of
7-8 males and females leaving a club just before
the male assaults the female. The males are
having a “big fight”. One male was seen to take
his top off. Security were trying to calm them

down.

Two door staff of The Dollhouse had witnessed
the assault and knew the suspect but neither was
prepared to give a witness statement to police as

they “fear repercussions” if they provide

CR

4

NOT FROTECTIVELY KMARKED

Page 13



evidence.

The female victim was taken to hospital. She was
uncooperative and had consumed a quantity of

alcohol. She later refused to pursue a complaint.

Mr _ from The Dollhouse later

indicated there would have been no guest list on
this night as the club was open to all members of

the public and was not hosting a private function,

Saturday.
4.5.13

23:30

Assault bg; door staff/drunkenness. Failures of
management to supply CCTV footage. A drunk

female was pushed over by a member of door
staff after she left The Dollhouse or was ejected.
This was confirmed by police who viewed CCTV
footage outside the entrance to the club. The
venue stated the female has been removed from
the club because of her behaviour and fell over
outside. The female later refused to co-operate
with the police investigation. During the police
investigation the venue’s internal CCTV system
was found to be faulty and no footage could be

supplied to police.

-

Sunday.
19.5.13

02:05

Drunk and disorderly. Police attended The
Dollhouse after a drunk male was cjected and was
arguing with door staff, The male was shouting
and Junging towards other persons present and
grabbed an officer’s arm. The male later accepted

a Fixed Penalty Notice.




Monday,
3.6.13

03:30

Assault. A male argues with and then assaults a
transgender female afier they left The Dollhouse.
The suspect was calling the victim a “Batty Boy™.
Police intervened. The male and female claimed
to be friends and walked off. The male then
assaulted the female again. The victim later told
police her friend had never been violent to her
before and it was “alcohol induced and the door

staff wound him up™.

Sunday,
1.7.13

02:08

Assault. Failures of management to supply

CCTV footage.
A fight occurred inside The Dollhouse between

two groups of females which spilled outside the
venue. One of the females jumped towards
another and hit her in the head several times and
grabbed her around the neck. Police attended but
the victim did not want to press any charges. She
was upset that the door staff did not help her
when she asked them to call police. Door staff
later told police they were unaware of any
incident of violence and believed the people

involved “were just being loud™.

Police requested CCTV from the venue and were
told it could only be downloaded onto a USB
stick. Numerous attempts were made to collect
this from the manager. However the manager was
never present when officers attended and he did
not return any phone calls. When contact was
finally made it was found that the USB stick did

not have the recording and the CCTV system can

)
ROT INRQTECTIVELY MARICE

Page 15



O T IO =S TSN N L7 [ Pl
KNOT PROTECTIVELYN MARICIET

o no longer retrieve the relevant footage.
Sunday, Public disorder. Outside The Dollhouse | CCTV - 1o
E. 10.13 witnessed by police officers. follow

Previous police engagement with management

14.

15.

16.

I7.

Since January 2013 there have been a number of meetings between police and,
primarily, Mr |||l ore of the owners of The Dollhouse and the current
Designated Premises Supervisor. The purpose of these meetings was to try to

establish a way forward for the premises after the series of incidents that had

occurred.

Discussions centred on: the tightening of their security procedures and door staff; the
uniformity/visibility of their security; a workable dispersal policy; entry policies;
removing irresponsible drinks promotions; advertising of promotions; the use of
certain promoters at their venue; the continual late submission of their Risk
Assessment 696 forms; efforts to attract a different and less troublesome clientele; a
dress code; age limits for their customers; better communications with the police; the

introduction of a more reliable and sustainable business model which did not rely on

externally promoted events,

Following these meetings the venue did produce to police certain policies and made
promises of improvement. I believe that at one stage efforts were made to run the

business as a sandwich bar.

Regrettably recent events have shown that the promises have not translated into a
resolution of the crime and disorder problems associated with the venue. It seems
clear that only a root and branch change to the nature of this premises or its permanent

closure will promote the licensing objectives in the future.

Aftermath and Conclusion

FEOTN " TR ORI o9 TSl N7 R £ S perpsrs
NOY 2 WWTECTIVELY AR ED



18.

19,

ROT PROVECTIVELY MARIKED

On the night of the trigger incident (28/29 November 2013) the manager on duty, Mr
_ closed the club in response to a police request. If he had not
voluntarily done so the police would almost certainly have issued a section 161
Closure Notice on the night forcing immediate closure. In addition the club agreed to
the police’s request not to open the club over this past weekend (29-30 November).
However the venue is already advertising on its Twitter page that it will re-open “next

Friday” (presumed to be 6 December 2013).

The police have no confidence that The Dollhouse is in a position to operate safely as
an early-hours nightclub in a manner that promotes the licensing objectives. It seems
highly unlikely that any steps could be put in place in the immediate future to change
that position. In the police’s opinion there is a very real risk and likelihood that
serious violence and/or serious crime will re-occur if the venue re-opens in its current
state. Therefore, at this stage, the police believe that a suspension of this premises
licence is the necessary, appropriate and proportionate interim step pending the full

review hearing,

Inspector Hector McKoy
City of London Police

1 December 2013

11

-
—
Pl
-~
—

ITECTIVELY MARKERD

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Appendix 3

CITY OF LONDON
T ynmental Health &

T T ———"

Name and address of police force

DIR ! REC FAO

City of London Police
37 Wood Street
London

EC2P 2NQ

CERTIFICATE UNDER SECTION 53A(1)(b) OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003

| hereby certify that in my opinion the premises described below are associated with
both serious crime and serious disorder

Premises
The Dollhouse, 7-8 Bishopsgate Churchyard, London EC2M 3TJ

Premises licence number: LN/ N

Premises licence holder : || N
Name of premises supervisor: s

|, Norma Collicott, am a Superintendent in the City of London police force.

| am giving this certificate because | am of the opinion that other procedures under
the Licensing Act 2003 are inappropriate due to the escalating gravity of violence,
crime and disorder associated with The Dollhouse. Immediate measures are
required in order to prevent further instances of serious crime and serious disorder
and this objective is best achieved by means of interim steps being imposed pending
the full summary review hearing.

This appllcatlon follows a very serious incident of public disorder in the early hours of
Friday, 29" November 2013. Those involved were mainly customers of The
Dollhouse. Persons involved armed themselves with a baseball bat and a threat was
made that firearms would be brought to the scene. The violence spread over three
streets, spanned about 45 minutes and over 100 persons were either directly

Page 19



participating, or caught up, in the disorder. Police officers were injured tfying to quell
the fighting.

The venue has a poor track record of preventing alcohol-induced violence and
disorder. Despite advice and intervention from police licensing officers over the past
12 months the venue’s management have shown themselves to be either unable or
unwilling to taking effective steps to prevent the sort of disorder that occurred last
week. There is a clear pattern emerging of poor management decisions and
inadequate door supervision leading to violence and serious disorder at the
premises. The venue has, in my opinion, become a magnet for crime and disorder.

There is a genuine and well-founded belief amongst the City of London Police that
unless immediate action is taken someone will be very seriously injured or lose their
life at this venue if steps are not taken to prevent it.

Either the entire business model needs to be changed so that the venue can no
longer operate as a nightclub or the venue must be permanently closed. Given that
root and branch changes cannot be made immediately it is my opinion that an
interim suspension is the most practical and effective way to promote the licensing
objectives.

It is anticipated that at the full Review hearing the Police will invite the Licensing
Sub-Committee to consider taking all steps up to and including revocation of the
Premises Licence.

(Signed) (2.12.13)

Page 20



	Agenda
	Hearing Procedure
	1 Application for Summary Licence Review
	2 Grounds for Review of the Premises Licence
	3 s.53A Certificate

